UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE FI FTH Cl RCU T

No. 91-2599

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,
Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,
VERSUS

RAFAEL PEREZ- BUSTANMANTE,
Def endant - Appel | ant.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court
for the Southern District of Texas

(May 29, 1992)

Bef ore SNEED, ! REAVLEY, and BARKSDALE, Circuit Judges.
BARKSDALE, Circuit Judge:

The single issue before us is whether Rafael Perez-
Bust amante' s confession, given on Mdnday norning, the day before
New Year's and approximately 60 hours after his Friday night
arrest, shoul d have been suppressed as i nvol untary, sol ely because,
prior to his confession, he had not been taken before a nagi strate.

We AFFI RM

. Senior Circuit Judge of the Nnth Crcuit, sitting by
desi gnati on.



l.

At 9:00 p.m on Friday, Decenber 28, 1990, in response to a
sensor alert,? Border Patrol Agents were di spatched to an area near
the RRo Gande R ver, sixteen mles east of the International
Bridge at Brownsville, Texas. On arriving, they observed Perez
| ooking toward a trail that led to the river. Ordered to cone
forward, Perez drew a pistol.?

Perez was arrested; and when two nore agents arrived, they
pursued two other individuals. From the trail leading to the
river, they observed four or five persons sw mm ng back across the
river. The agents found two wet inner tubes along the river bank;
two pistols; and two | arge bags contai ning 167 pounds of marijuana
inthe field next to the river (approximtely 100 to 150 yards from
the arrest site).

At the arrest site, an agent read Perez his Mranda rights (in
Spani sh). After Perez was taken to the Brownsville Border Patrol
Station, he was again read those rights (in Spanish). Perez waived
them (witten) and was interviewed and processed for Inmgration
purposes. He stated that he was a Mexican citizen and had entered
the United States illegally.® As part of his processing as an

illegal alien, Perez executed several forns which explained the

2 A sensor is a device planted in the ground that alerts to
pressure vibrations in the area around it.

3 An agent drew his pistol and shouted (in Spanish)
"Immgration. Drop the pistol." After this conmmand was repeated

several tines, Perez obeyed.
4 Perez does not chall enge this confession.
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reason for his arrest and his rights in deportation proceedi ngs.?®

Because the Border Patrol was not authorized to process Perez
on drug charges, it notified DEA Agent Tanmayo of the seizure and
that Perez was in custody. After mdnight, Perez was taken by
Border Patrol Agents to the Port |sabel Service Processing Center
(a Border Patrol detention canp) in Bayview, Texas.

Magi strates were not available for initial appearances during
the weekend, but Tamayo expected that Perez would see one on
Monday. On Monday, Decenber 31, 1990, the marijuana and pisto
were rel eased to Tamayo; and between 10:00 and 11:00 a.m, Perez
was taken to the Brownsville DEA office for processing on drug
charges. Tamayo told Perez that norning that he (Perez) would see
a magi strate that day; normally, defendants are arrai gned between

1:30 and 3:00 p.m?®

5 Those fornms were: 1-213 (Record of Deportable Alien); 1-214
(Rights Form; 1-221 (Formof Arrest for Illegal Entry Form and |-
274 (Voluntary Departure or Hearing Form.

6 As discussed infra, it was not until after his interviewwth
Perez that Tamayo |earned that a nagistrate was not available on
Decenber 31. The follow ng colloquy occurred at the suppression
heari ng:

THE COURT: At what time was this [Perez's]
statenent taken?
[ TAVMAYQ : It was approximately 10:00 to 11: 00
[a.m] ... on Monday, Decenber 31st.

* * %
THE COURT: In ordinary course, ... when do you

t ake persons before the Magistrate? At what hour?

[ TAVMAYQ : Normally between 1:30 and 3:00 is
when they are arraigned...



Tamayo advi sed Perez of his Mranda rights (in Spanish) and
i nformed hi mt hat he was bei ng charged with possessi on of marijuana
and carrying a weapon during a narcotics transaction. Perez then
i nformed Tamayo that he was carrying a gun to protect the | oad of
marijuana, not to engage | aw enforcenent; that he was hired by an
i ndi vi dual naned Juan from Matanoros; and that he was going to be
pai d $100 to assist and protect the marijuana. Perez's statenent

was not in response to a question; as indicated, it was offered

THE COURT: So if the Mugistrate had been
avail able [on Monday], the arraignnment would, in
ordi nary course, have taken place that afternoon?

[ TAVMAYQ : Yes, sir

[ GOVERNVENT:] Did you take the defendant in front
of a Magistrate?

[ TAVAYQ | VWll, | had told the defendant that
he woul d appear before the Magistrate that day.
Since one was not avail able, he would have to wait
two days, which would have been the Wadnesday
appear ance.

[ GOVERNVENT:] Did you tell himbefore or after he
made the statenent?

[ TAVAYQ | ... [I]t was after the statenents,
because it was after then that | found out that no
Magi strate was avail abl e.

[ GOVERNVENT: ]  Ckay. Now, did you nake any
prom ses or threats to the defendant in order to
obtain these statenents?

[ TAVAYQ | None at all

[ GOVERNVENT:] Did you take the defendant in front
of the Magistrate at the earliest possible tine?

[ TAVAYQ | Yes, it was, which was Wednesday on
January 2nd, 1991.



after Tamayo informed him of the charges.’” The interview, which
included fifteen mnutes of taking photographs and fingerprints,
| asted approximately thirty mnutes. After the interview, Tanayo
| earned that, because of the New Year's holiday, a magi strate would
not be avail able until Wdnesday, January 2. He inforned Perez,
who remained in custody and did not appear before a magistrate
until two days |ater.

Perez was indicted on six drug and weapons counts.® Relying
in part on 18 U S.C. 8§ 3501, discussed infra, he noved
unsuccessfully to suppress his Decenber 31 confession, contending

that it was involuntary, solely because of the delay in his

! Tamayo testified at the suppression hearing as foll ows:
[ TAVAYQ | | don't recall that | asked him a
gquesti on. It was after | told him what he was

being charged with that he explained to ne about
what the purpose of the firearmwas. He was very
concerned about that.

[ DEFENSE COUNSEL:] You asked himno questions?

[ TAVAYQ | Wien | told him what he was charged
wth, that's when he just started -- we carried on
a conversation. There [were] no specific
questions. And he was concerned about the firearm

8 He was indicted for (1) conspiracy to inport nore than 50
kil ograns of marijuana, in violation of 21 U.S.C. 88 963, 952(a),
and 960(b) (3); (2) inporting approximately 167 pounds of marijuana,
inviolation of 21 U S.C. 88 952(a), 960(b)(3), and 18 U.S.C. § 2,
(3) conspiracy to possess with intent to distribute nore than 50
kilograns of marijuana, in violation of 21 US.C 88 846,
841(a)(1l), and 841(b)(1)(C; (4) possessing wth intent to
distribute approximately 167 pounds of marijuana, in violation of
21 U.S.C. 88 841(a)(1l), 841(b)(1)(©, and 18 U S C 8§ 2; (5
possession of a firearm during and in relation to a drug
trafficking offense, in violation of 18 U S.C. § 924(c); and (6)
possessing a firearmas anillegal alien, in violation of 18 U S. C
922(9g) (5).



appearing before a nmgistrate. In March 1991, Perez was tried
before a jury and convicted on all counts. He was sentenced, inter
alia, to 101 nonths' inprisonnent.

.

Perez confessed approximately 60 hours after he was arrested
and two days prior to appearing before a nmagistrate. Arrested
W thout a warrant on Friday night, Perez contends that, under the
Fourth Amendnent, he was required to be taken before a magi strate
prior to the time on Mnday that he confessed; and that
accordingly, his <confession was involuntary and, therefore,
i nadm ssi ble.?®

Federal Rule of Crimnal Procedure 5(a) bears on this issue.
It provides in pertinent part: "An officer making an arrest
shal | take the arrested person without unnecessary del ay before the
nearest available federal magistrate or, in the event that a
federal magistrate is not reasonably avail able, before a state or
| ocal judicial officer authorized by 18 U . S.C. § 3041." For Rule
5(a) purposes here, in determ ning whether the delay rendered the

pre-presentation confession inadm ssible, our focus is on 18 U S. C

8§ 3501, which provides in part: "I'n any crimnal prosecution
brought by the United States ... a confession ... shall be
adm ssible in evidence if it is voluntarily given." 18 U S.C. 8§
o Perez concedes that the subsequent period between the Mnday

conf essi on and Wednesday appearance is not relevant. And, because
we hold that the confession was adni ssi ble, we need not reach the
i ssue of harnl ess error.



3501(a) . 10

Section 3501 requires the trial judge to determ ne

vol untariness in |ight of

18 U.S. C

After the testinony at the suppression hearing,

all the circunstances surroundi ng the giving of the
confession, including (1) the tine el apsi ng between
arrest and arrai gnnent of the defendant naking the
confession, if it was nade after arrest and before
arraignnent, (2) whether such defendant knew the
nature of the offense with which he was charged or
of which he was suspected at the tine of making the
confession, (3) whether or not such defendant was
advi sed or knew that he was not required to nake
any statenent and that any such statenent could be
used agai nst him (4) whether or not such def endant
had been advised prior to questioning of his right
to the assistance of counsel; and (5) whether or
not such defendant was w thout the assistance of
counsel when questioned and when giving such
conf essi on.

The presence or absence of any of the above-
mentioned factors to be taken into consi deration by
the judge need not be conclusive on the issue of
vol unt ari ness.

§ 3501(b) (enphasis added).

exchange occurred:

THE COURT: C Now, are you attacking
voluntariness? | don't have any evidence to the
contrary.

* * %
[ DEFENSE COUNSEL] : Your Honor, it is not ny
obligation to attack anything .... What | am

saying is that the Governnent has not fulfilled
[1ts] burden in proving that Rafael Perez-
Bustamante gave his confession knowngly and
voluntarily...

THE COURT: ... | don't have any evidence other
than it was voluntary and | so find. Aren't you
al so addressing the fact that there was a del ay?

10 Al t hough Perez did not rely on Rule 5(a) in district court,

did rely,

as noted, upon § 3501.
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Sect i

[ DEFENSE COUNSEL]: [T]he delay under [8] 3501(bh)
is one of the considerations that the trial judge
in determining the issue of voluntariness shal

t ake into consi deration.... [ T] he del ay
contributed to the involuntariness of t he
confession ....

[ THE COURT]: | don't agree.... Il wll tell you
where | mght have to agree. Had there been sone
statenents made after Monday norni ng [ Decenber 31],
| think that woul d have been an undue delay. But
up till Monday norning, there was nothing that
doesn't happen in ordinary course. |n other words,
when people are arrested Friday late, that they are
sinply taken before a Magi strate Monday during the
course of the day.

And what statenents he nade to M. Tamayo were
made prior to the tinme that he ordinarily would
have been taken to the Magistrate anyway. | don't
think that departure is sufficient to where it
would totally affect the voluntariness of the
maki ng of the statenent.

| would call to your attention that the
evidence before nme ... indicates, and there is
nothing to the contrary, that the warning was not
gi ven once, but it was given three tines before he
made a statenent to M. Tamayo. | don't think that
the delay is such that it caused or created in the
def endant a setting by which he did not know ngly
and willfully nmake a statenent.

on 3501 further provides:

[A] confession ... shall not be inadm ssible
sol el y because of delay in bringing a person before
a magi strate ... if such confession is found by the

trial judge to have been made voluntarily and if
the weight to be given the confession is left to
the jury and if such confession was nmade or given
by such person wthin six hours immediately

followng his arrest ... Provided, That the tinme
limtation ... shall not apply in any case in which
the delay in bringing such person before such
magi strate ... beyond such si x-hour period is found

by the trial judge to be reasonabl e considering the
means of transportation and the distance to be
traveled to the nearest avail able such nmagistrate
or other officer.



18 U S.C § 3501(c). Perez asserts that 8§ 3501(c) renders
i nadm ssi ble all confessions obtained nore than six hours after
arrest, unless the delay is occasioned by "the neans of
transportation and the distance to be traveled to the nearest
available ... magistrate". However, this court rejected that
construction in United States v. Hathorn, 451 F.2d 1337, 1341 (5th
Cr. 1971):

Wi | e Section 3501(c) can be construed to nean that

the only confessions obtained nore than six hours

after arrest that can be admtted are those that

were elicited during the tine necessary for travel

to the magistrate, we agree with the 9th Crcuit

[United States v. Hal bert, 436 F.2d 1226 (9th G

1970)] that Congress did not intend to |egislate

any such arbitrary edict. W believe the correct

interpretation to be that Congress established six

hours as a m ni mum peri od whi ch woul d pass nuster.

If, therefore, a longer delay occurs, it nerely

constitutes another factor to be considered by the

trial judge in determ ning voluntariness.
Furthernore, in United States v. Bustanmante-Saenz, 894 F.2d 114,
119-20 (5th Gr. 1990), we upheld the adm ssion of a confession
given nine and one-half hours after arrest. Simlar to this case,
there was no evidence that the delay was for the purpose of
extracting a confession or that the interrogation was |engthy,
hostile, or coercive, even though the defendant was detai ned nore
than thirty hours before he was presented to a magistrate. |d.

"Once a defendant has been tried and convicted, delay in

bringing himbefore a magistrate is not reason to set aside the
convi ction unl ess the defendant can show that he was prejudi ced by
the delay." 1d. at 120 (quoting United States v. Causey, 835 F. 2d

1527, 1529 (5th Gr. 1988)). "[Dlelay is "sinply one factor which



must be considered along wth other factors in determning
voluntariness.'" 1d. (quoting United States v. Gorel, 622 F.2d
100, 104 (5th Gir. 1979), cert. denied, 445 U S. 943 (1980)).
"[Where there is no evidence to support a finding that the del ay
was for the purpose of obtaining a confession, there is no evidence
that the delay had a coercive effect on the confession, thereis no
causal connection between the delay and the confession, and the
confession was otherwise voluntarily given, we hold that the
def endant has not shown prejudice by the delay." Id.

Perez, however, seeks to inpose a new standard, based on
County of Riverside v. MlLaughlin, = US |, 111 S. C. 1661
(1991). He maintains that, under MLaughlin, the 60 hours between

his arrest and confession is "not tolerable". "In Gerstein v.
Pugh, 420 U S. 103 (1975), [the] Court held that the Fourth
Amendnent requires a pronpt judicial determnation of probable
cause as a prerequisite to an extended pretrial detention foll ow ng
a warrantless arrest."” McLaughlin, 111 S. C. at 1665. I n
McLaughlin, a 8§ 1983 case, the Suprenme Court addressed "what is
pronpt under Gerstein." |d.
Where an arrested individual does not receive
a probabl e cause determ nation wthin 48 hours ....
the arrested i ndi vidual does not bear the burden of
provi ng an unreasonabl e delay. Rather, the burden

shifts to the governnent to denonstrate the
existence of a bona fide energency or other

extraordinary circunstance. The fact that in a
particular case it nmay take | onger than 48 hours to
consol i date pretrial [ pr obabl e cause and

arrai gnnent] proceedings does not qualify as an

1 McLaughl i n was deci ded approxi mately two and one-hal f nonths
after the suppression hearing in this case.
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extraordi nary circunstance. Nor for that matter,
do i nterveni ng weekends.

ld. at 1670.

Perez asserts that the 48-hour requirenent applies here.
McLaughlin's requirenent arose out of concern that, followng a
warrantless arrest, "prolonged detention [by a State] based on
incorrect or wunfounded suspicion may unjustly “inperil [a]
suspect's job, interrupt his source of incone, and inpair his
famly relationships.'" 1d. at 1668 (quoting Gerstein, 420 U S. at
114) (brackets by Suprenme Court). The Court stated in MLaughlin
that its "purpose in Gerstein was to nake clear that the Fourth
Amendnent requires every State to provide pronpt determ nations of
probable cause...." 1d. On the federal stage, Rule 5(a) addresses
this concern

On the other hand, 8 3501 focuses on voluntariness and
addresses the concern that a federal conviction be based on
reliable evidence. See Crane v. Kentucky, 476 U S. 683, 687-92
(1986). This concern is adequately protected, under § 3501, by
requiring the district court to consider carefully the issue of
unr easonabl e del ay and by pl aci ng vol untari ness before the trier of
fact.!?

The delay reflected in this case is cause for considerable
concern, as discussed bel ow. Under the 8§ 3501 totality of the
ci rcunst ances test, however, we cannot say that the delay prior to

the confession rendered it inadm ssi bl e. Perez was arrested | ate

12 Perez requested, and received, an instruction pertaining to
the statenent's vol untariness.
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Friday night; he was being held as anillegal alien (in part as the
result of a confession not challenged here); and he had executed
forms which explained the reason for his detention on inmmgration
charges. There is no evidence that the delay in presenting Perez
to a magi strate was for the purpose of interrogation. Perez never
clainmed this; instead, he conceded for purposes of his suppression
nmotion that "the delay was not designed by the Governnent, (no
Magi strate was avail able until Wadnesday norning)." Furthernore,
there is no evidence that the interrogation was |engthy, hostile,
or coercive. To the contrary, the interview with Tamayo | asted
about thirty mnutes, fifteen of which were devoted to
fingerprinting and phot ographing. Perez had been read M randa
warnings three tinmes, once imediately before the interview
Tamayo testified that, during the interview, he and Perez "carried
on a conversation" and that "[t]here were no specific questions."
In fact, as discussed, Perez volunteered the information after
bei ng advi sed of the charges against him Finally, the record does
not suggest that the delay in any way caused Perez to confess. As
noted, Perez confessed on Mnday norning, after he was told,
m st akenly, that he would see a magistrate in a few hours.

Qur hol ding should not be understood to condone the al nost
five-day delay in taking a defendant before a nmgistrate. Such
del ay, even for a holiday period, is not acceptable as standard

operating procedure; far fromit.



Accordi ngly, the judgnent
AFF| RVED.

is
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